#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA

No. 20-0769

# AMERICAN HOME ASSURANCE,

Petitioner-Appellant,

vs.

# LIBERTY MUTUAL FIRE INSURANCE COMPANY,

Respondent-Appellee.

# APPEAL FROM THE IOWA COURT OF APPEALS

## APPELLANT'S APPLICATION FOR FURTHER REVIEW

COURT OF APPEALS DECISION FILED JULY 21, 2021

AARON T. OLIVER
Hansen, McClintock & Riley
Fifth Floor – U.S. Bank Building
520 Walnut Street
Des Moines, IA 50309
Telephone: 515-244-2141
Fax: 515-244-2931

Fax: 515-244-2931 aoliver@hmrlawfirm.com

ATTORNEYS FOR AMERICAN HOME ASSURANCE

# QUESTIONS PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

### STATEMENT OF FACTS AND PROCEEDINGS

The relevant facts are undisputed. In 2010, Claimant John Thompson (a non-party) filed a workers' compensation petition against Keokuk Steel Castings (a non-party) and American Home Assurance (hereinafter referred to as "American Home"), alleging a work injury on November 15, 2007. (App. pp. 11, 20.) The employer and American Home filed an Answer, admitting this injury date and that workers' compensation benefits had been paid to Thompson. (App. p. 12.)

Prior to the arbitration hearing, Thompson amended his petition to include a possible injury date of June 30, 2008. (App. p. 14.) The employer and American Home filed an Answer denying an injury on that date. (App. pp. 15, 20.)

The case proceeded to a contested arbitration hearing in 2011. (App. pp. 21, 60.) The Deputy Commissioner filed an Arbitration Decision, rejecting both of those injury dates. (App. p. 63.) Instead, the Deputy chose an injury date of June 16, 2008, which had never been alleged by Thompson before the date of hearing. (App. pp. 60, 63.) The Deputy ordered American Home to pay 125 weeks of permanent partial disability benefits, and the last payment was made to Thompson in May 2013. (App. pp. 21, 65, 87.)

In March 2016, Thompson filed a Review-Reopening petition, seeking additional workers' compensation benefits. (App. pp. 18, 21.) After such filing, American Home discovered it was <u>not</u> the employer's insurance carrier for the date of injury adopted by the workers' compensation agency (June 16, 2008). (App. p. 21.) Rather, the correct insurance carrier for that injury date was Liberty Mutual. (App. p. 56.)

After this discovery, American Home filed an Application and Consent Order for Payment of Benefits under Iowa Code section 85.21. (App. pp. 19, 21.) This application was granted in January

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Liberty Mutual admits it provided workers' compensation insurance coverage to the employer on this date. (App. p. 56.)

2017 (App. p. 19), and American Home then filed a formal petition for contribution/reimbursement against Liberty Mutual. (App. pp. 21-22, 69.)

Both Liberty Mutual and American Home filed motions for summary judgment relating to the issue of whether American Home was entitled to contribution or reimbursement from Liberty Mutual for benefits paid <u>before</u> the section 85.21 consent order was issued.<sup>2</sup> (App. pp. 47, 74.) In July 2018, the Deputy filed a Ruling denying Liberty Mutual's motion and granting American Home's motion. (App. p. 76.)

Liberty Mutual appealed the Deputy's ruling and, in October 2019, the Commissioner<sup>3</sup> filed an Appeal Decision. (App. p. 86.) The Commissioner reversed in part, concluding Liberty Mutual is not liable for contribution to American Home for benefits it paid

<sup>2</sup> Liberty Mutual admits American Home is entitled to contribution/reimbursement for benefits paid after the 85.21 order was approved on 1/03/17. (App. p. 80.)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> In a 9/12/19 Order of Delegation of Authority (App. p. 58), Deputy Stephanie Copley was assigned to issue the final agency decision in place of Commissioner Joe Cortese, who recused himself. However, for simplicity, Deputy Copley will be referred to as "the Commissioner" because her decision constituted final agency action.

pursuant to the underlying Arbitration Decision.<sup>4</sup> (App. p. 98.)

American Home then filed an appeal with the district court. (App. p. 99.)

In April 2020, the district court filed a Ruling on Judicial Review, reversing the Commissioner's decision. (App. p. 142.) The Court agreed with the Deputy, concluding American Home is entitled to summary judgment. (App. p. 142.) Liberty Mutual then filed an appeal. (App. p. 144.) The case was transferred to the Court of Appeals, which filed a Decision on July 21, 2021 (attached to this Application.)

# APPELLANT'S ARGUMENTS

I. THE COURT OF APPEALS MIS-INTERPRETED IOWA CODE SECTION 85.21 BY CONCLUDING SUCH REIMBURSEMENT CLAIMS MUST BE RESOLVED AT THE ARBITRATION HEARING INVOLVING CLAIMANT.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> The Commissioner affirmed the summary judgment in favor of American Home "to the extent that Liberty Mutual is liable for contribution to American Home for any payments of permanent partial disability benefits paid in excess of the 125 weeks ordered by the arbitration decision (which does not appear to have occurred) and for any medical benefits paid after the date of the arbitration hearing and not ordered by the arbitration decision (if any such payments exist)." (App. p. 98.)

This case revolves around Iowa Code section 85.21, which governs workers' compensation payments and liability disputes. The disputes most often occur between insurance carriers, usually due to changes in coverage by employers. The statute provides in relevant part:

1. The workers' compensation commissioner may order any number or combination of alleged workers' compensation insurance carriers and alleged employers, which are parties to a contested case or to a dispute which could culminate in a contested case, to pay all or part of the benefits due to an employee or an employee's dependent or legal representative if any of the carriers or employers agree, or the commissioner determines after an evidentiary hearing, that one or more of the carriers or employers is liable to the employee or to the employee's dependent or legal representative for benefits under this chapter or under chapter 85A or 85B, but the carriers or employers cannot agree, or the commissioner has not determined which carriers or employers are liable.

\* \* \* \*

3. When liability is finally determined by the workers' compensation commissioner, the commissioner shall order the carriers or employers liable to the employee or to the employee's dependent or legal representative to reimburse the carriers or employers which are not liable but were required to pay benefits. . . . [A] contested case for benefits under this chapter or under chapter 85A or 85B shall not be maintained against a party to a case or dispute resulting in an order authorized by this section unless the contested case is commenced within three

years from the date of the last benefit payment under the order. <u>The commissioner may determine liability for</u> the payment of workers' compensation benefits under this section.

Iowa Code § 85.21 (emphasis added).

In its decision, the Court of Appeals initially focused on the "timing" of an 85.21 reimbursement claim, noting it is the "question facing us." (Ct. App. Dec. p. 11.) It then concluded such reimbursement actions must be filed within three years of the date of last indemnity payment to Claimant, relying on Iowa Code section 85.21(3). (Ct. App. Dec. pp. 11-12.) The Court further concluded that, even though American Home's last indemnity payment was in May 2013 and the 85.21 order was not sought until December 2016, such action was **not** barred by the statute of limitations due to the claimant Thompson's filing of a review-reopening claim in March 2016.<sup>5</sup> (Ct. App. Dec. p. 12.)

However, the Court of Appeals did <u>not</u> reverse on that basis, and American Home does not dispute a three-year time limit.

Instead, the Court reversed because American Home did <u>not</u> obtain

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> The Court further noted that Liberty Mutual conceded the 85.21 action is not untimely (Ct. App. Dec. p. 12) and, in fact, Liberty Mutual has never argued or raised a statute-of-limitations defense.

an 85.21 Order before the claimant Thompson's arbitration hearing in 2011, specifically stating:

An insurer should have to afford the commissioner early notice of the disputed nature of its claim so that the commissioner can address the issue at the <u>arbitration hearing</u>... Once the commissioner authorizes impleader of another insurer, the first insurer can seek to absolve itself of liability while at the same time allowing the second insurer to present its own defense <u>to the</u> claimant's case before liability is established....

(Ct. App. Dec. p. 15) (emphasis added).

Such a conclusion clearly runs afoul of the plain language of section 85.21, which does <u>not</u> limit such proceedings to the "arbitration hearing." In fact, the language is much broader and mentions "parties to a contested case," "a dispute which could culminate in a contested case," and "evidentiary hearing." Iowa Code § 85.21(1). It is a regular occurrence for 85.21 evidentiary hearings to be separate, or occur after, the claimant's arbitration proceeding, and they occasionally occur with no arbitration hearing at all. <u>See</u>, e.g., <u>Andover Volunteer Fire Dept. v. Grinnell Mut. Reins. Co.</u>, 787 N.W.2d 75 (Iowa 2010); <u>Arreola v. Bodeans Baking Group Holdings</u>, LLC, File No. 5040956, 2018 WL 1042709 (App. Dec. 2/16/18).

In an ideal world, all parties would be involved in the claimant's arbitration hearing. However, the legislature likely anticipated the numerous scenarios where this is not possible, which is why it did not limit the 85.21 proceedings to the arbitration hearing. For example, many times a claimant has settled but there remain payment disputes between insurance carriers. Of course, as with this case, there are cases where the agency chooses an entirely new date of injury, which invokes a new insurance carrier that was not anticipated and/or was not involved in the arbitration proceeding.

Whether intended or not, the Court of Appeals has essentially rewritten section 85.21, and its ruling will lead to many unfair and/or unforeseen results. For example, in this case, Liberty Mutual was not involved in the arbitration proceeding because, until the Deputy's arbitration decision, the only admitted injury date (November 15, 2007) was in American Home's coverage period. (App. pp. 11, 12.) The parties did not know the Deputy would choose an injury date (June 30, 2008) that was not even pleaded by the claimant Thompson. As such, it was wholly unreasonable for the Court to

conclude that American Home should have involved Liberty Mutual in the arbitration proceeding.

In its decision, the Court of Appeals concluded the Supreme Court ruling in Second Injury Fund v. Bergeson, 526 N.W.2d 543 (Iowa 1995) "endorsed" its position. (Ct. App. Dec. pp. 15-16.) This is not the case. In Bergeson, the dispute was between the employer and the Second Injury Fund, not between two insurance carriers. Bergeson, 526 N.W.2d at 549. Furthermore, the Bergeson Court did not state that reimbursement proceedings were required to be addressed in an arbitration hearing. Id. To the contrary, the Court noted the obligations "could not be determined until a hearing was held and a decision rendered." Id. In that case, the Commissioner was able to do that at the arbitration level because the claimant had already involved both the employer and the Second Injury Fund in the proceeding.

In this case, the district court clearly understood and explained that an 85.21 reimbursement action is <u>not</u> limited to the claimant's arbitration proceeding:

Upon review, it is clear to the Court that the legislature used the term "contested case" and not "evidentiary

hearing in a case" that the Commission has substituted in its place. The meaning of "contested case" is not so narrow as to mean only the arbitration proceedings that determine the factual basis, liability, and the scope of compensability of a claimant's injuries. . . . [T]he Chapter does not limit the term "evidentiary hearing" to mean only those proceedings which determine an injured worker's right to benefits. . . . .

\* \* \* \*

The Court finds the term "contested case" for purposes of Iowa Code Section 85.21 is broad enough to permit independent proceedings under the Statute's plain text. . . . The Statute's language, in addition to the relevant terms and their definitions provided by the legislature, is broad enough to include not only those who were a party to the underlying arbitration proceeding, but also those who are potentially responsible for reimbursement or the payment of benefits under Section 85.21.

(App. pp. 134, 135) (emphasis added).

This Court needs to conclude and reiterate that Iowa Code section 85.21 contribution/reimbursement proceedings are <u>not</u> limited to a claimant's arbitration proceeding. American Home followed the proper statutory procedure and, if not for the summary judgment motions filed by both sides, the 85.21 petition would have eventually culminated in its own evidentiary hearing. This Court should reverse.

II. THE COURT OF APPEALS MIS-APPLIED AGENCY LAW (AND SUPPORTING APPELLATE DECISIONS) BY CONCLUDING AMERICAN HOME CANNOT OBTAIN REIMBURSEMENT FOR BENEFITS IT PAID BEFORE ISSUANCE OF THE 85.21 ORDER.

In the Court of Appeals' decision, much of the analysis is spent on the limitations period for 85.21 reimbursement actions, even though the case was not resolved or reversed on that basis. (Ct. App. Dec. pp. 9-12.) Next, the Court focused on attempting to resolve such claims at the early possible time, but it inexplicably restricted it to a claimant's arbitration hearing (Ct. App. Dec. p. 15), which is <u>not</u> what the statute says.

It was only at the very end of the decision that the Court of Appeals offered an actual reason for reversal:

We conclude the commissioner's decision limiting American Home's reimbursement claim to benefits paid after it sought and obtained a section 85.21 order was consistent with its precedents.

(Ct. App. Dec. p. 16.) Such a conclusory statement was <u>not</u> supported by its own analysis, and it is <u>not</u> supported by agency precedent. This Court should reverse and reinstate the district court's decision.

It is very clear agency precedent does <u>not</u> limit a reimbursement claim to benefits paid only after the issuance of the 85.21 order. In fact, both the Court of Appeals and Liberty Mutual refer to the so-called "Van Wyngarden rule," a 1998 agency decision. <u>Employers Mut. Cas. Co. v. VanWyngarden & Abrahamson</u>, File No. 1059572 (App. Dec. 6/20/98). In that case, the Commissioner actually stated:

Where a petitioner for reimbursement has sought an order pursuant to Iowa Code section 85.21 prior to the evidentiary hearing, reimbursement may include payments made both before and after the order was issued. But where no order under 85.21 issues before the evidentiary hearing in a case, reimbursement will not be ordered.

<u>Id.</u> at 5 (emphasis added). In this case, due to the summary judgment ruling, there was **no** evidentiary hearing on American Home's 85.21 petition for contribution/reimbursement. As such, even under the *Van Wyngarden* rule, American Home is entitled to reimbursement for payments made before <u>and</u> after the 85.21 order was issued.

In fact, Liberty Mutual's entire motion for summary judgment was premised on its position that "a petitioner can only obtain contribution or reimbursement from a third party for benefits made after an 85.21 order has been issued." (App. p. 74.) Clearly, that is **not** the law in Iowa, even under the plain language in *Van Wyngarden*.

Even the Commissioner acknowledged this, noting retroactive reimbursement <u>is</u> available as long as the 85.21 order is "obtained prior to the hearing." (App. p. 92; <u>see also App. p. 97.</u>) Of course, the error made by the Commissioner was the erroneous conclusion that the "hearing" is limited to the arbitration hearing (App. p. 93), which is **not** supported by the actual language in the statute.

In its decision, the Court of Appeals rejected the cases cited by American Home as "inapposite." (Ct. App. Dec. p. 10.) However, this Court is urged to review a couple of key decisions, including United Technologies Corp. v. Bahmler, 2003 WL553855 (Iowa App. 2003). In Bahmler, one insurance carrier (CIGNA) argued another insurance carrier (Pennsylvania) should be responsible for medical expenses even outside its coverage period. Id. at 5. The Court of Appeals rejected this argument, noting:

Iowa Code section 85.1 empowers the workers' compensation commissioner to apportion liability

between insurance carriers and to order reimbursement to any carrier that was not liable but was required to pay. Iowa Code § 85.21(1)(3). The parties have offered no authority which would authorize the agency to require Pennsylvania to reimburse CIGNA medical treatment provided to Bahmler before Pennsylvania's coverage commenced. Finding no authority for the reimbursement order, we reverse the portion of the order requiring reimbursement to CIGNA for medical expenses incurred prior to the commencement of Pennsylvania's coverage on April 1, 1997.

<u>Id.</u> (emphasis added). The fact that, in <u>Bahmler</u>, both carriers participated in the arbitration hearing does <u>not</u> negate (1) the underlying legal principle or (2) the fact there could have been a separate 85.21 evidentiary hearing.

The Court of Appeals also erred in summarily rejecting the Supreme Court's decision in Wilson Food Corp. v. Cherry, 315 N.W.2d 756 (Iowa 1982), stating it "had nothing to do with section 85.21." (Ct. App. Dec. p. 10.) In Cherry, this Court stated:

Employers may generally recover payments made by mistake in workers' compensation matters. 101 C.J.S. Workmen's Compensation § 835 (1958); 82 Am Jur 2d, Workmen's Compensation § 365 (1976); Lemmer v. Batzli Electric Company, 267 Minn. 8, 16-21, 125 N.W.2d 434, 440-42 (1963); Bland Casket Company v. Davenport, 221 Tenn. 492, 427 S.W.2d 839, 845 (1968); Ratzlaff v. Friedeman Service Store, 200 Kan. 430, 436 P.2d 389, 394 (1968); Wilborn Construction Company v. Parker, 281 Ala. 626, 206 So.2d 872, 873-75 (Ala.1968);

<u>Dunlap v. State Compensation Director</u>, 140 S.E.2d 448, 452 (W.Va.1965).

<u>Cherry</u>, 315 N.W.2d at 757 (emphasis added). It is true the case did not involve section 85.21, but it is equally true this Court was stating a general principle and was **not** limiting this principle to the specific facts of the case.

Also, in its decision, the Court of Appeals erred in relying on Arreola v. Bodeans Baking Group Holdings, LLC, File No. 5040956, 2018 WL 1042709 (App. Dec. 2/16/18) to support a reversal. (Ct. App. p. 14.) In that case, the claimant had two different injury dates (this case involves only **one** date of injury), which involved different insurance carriers, both of which participated at the 2013 arbitration hearing. Arreola, 2018 WL 1042709, at 1. In 2016, one of the carriers filed an 85.21 petition. Id. at 2.

In <u>Arreola</u>, the Commissioner ultimately rejected the petition, but only because the insurance carrier failed to obtain an 85.21 order. In this case, American Home <u>did</u> obtain an 85.21 order. Furthermore, in <u>Arreola</u>, the Commissioner <u>re-affirmed</u> the agency's position that "an order of reimbursement <u>is proper</u> for benefits paid

prior to an 85.21 order" as long as the order is issued before an evidentiary hearing. <u>Id.</u> at 3 (emphasis added).

In conclusion, the fundamental notion or essence of a "reimbursement" claim is that it **must** include retroactive or past benefits. American Home is clearly entitled to such reimbursement by Liberty Mutual. This Court needs to reverse the Court of Appeals Decision and clearly state and re-affirm the following legal principles as it relates to 85.21 reimbursement/contribution proceedings:

- 1. For reimbursement to be allowed, an 85.21 Order must be issued before an evidentiary hearing.
- 2. The evidentiary hearing is not limited to a claimant's arbitration proceeding; it can also include a separate or subsequent independent hearing (i.e. between insurance carriers).
- 3. Once issued, an 85.21 Order can include reimbursement for benefits paid prior (retroactive) or subsequent (prospective) to the order.

# **CONCLUSION**

For all of the reasons discussed herein, this Court should reverse the Court of Appeals and reinstate the district court ruling.