#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF IOWA

### CASE NO. 20-0769

#### AMERICAN HOME ASSURANCE,

Petitioner-Appellee,

v.

LIBERTY MUTUAL FIRE INSURANCE COMPANY,

Respondent-Appellant.

# DECISION OF IOWA COURT OF APPEALS FILED JULY 21, 2021

## RESISTANCE TO AMERICAN HOME ASSURANCE'S APPLICATION FOR FURTHER REVIEW

GREFE & SIDNEY, P.L.C. Andrew D. Hall, AT0003154 Benjamin T. Erickson, AT0012927 500 E. Court Ave., Ste. 200 Des Moines, IA 50309 Phone: 515/245-4300 Fax: 515/245-4452 ahall@grefesidney.com berickson@grefesidney.com ATTORNEY FOR RESPONDENT-APPELLEE

#

Iowa Code § 85.21	

#### STATEMENT IN RESISTANCE OF FURTHER REVIEW

American Home Assurance's Application for Further Review does not implicate any of the grounds upon which this Court traditionally grants further review. *See* Iowa R. App. P. 6.1103(1). Rather, the Application asks the Supreme Court to reverse the decision of the Court of Appeals without support of any of the enumerated grounds within the Rule 6.1103(1).

The Court of Appeals decision is not in conflict with a previous decision of the Iowa Supreme Court or Iowa Court of Appeals. As correctly noted by the District Court, there are no Iowa Supreme Court or Iowa Court of Appeals decisions addressing this issue. (District Court Order; app. 139-140). Moreover, this case does not deal with substantial question of constitutional law or important unsettled area of law. As The Iowa Court of Appeals decision notes, the Commissioner has filed a "host of adjudicative decisions over more than two decades construing and applying section 85.21." The Court of Appeal's decision is consistent with the aforementioned adjudicative decisions.

American Home Assurance's Application for Further Review should be denied.

#### **BRIEF IN RESISTANCE OF FURTHER REVIEW**

## I. THE COURT OF APPEALS DID NOT MIS-INTERPRET IOWA CODE SECTION 85.21

As correctly decided by the Iowa Court of Appeals, the plain language

of Iowa Code § 85.21 requires a party to seek reimbursement prior to the

injured workers' evidentiary hearing.

The entire scheme is set up to allow an employer to seek an order prior to payment of benefits, and only when liability is finally determined, to seek contribution for benefits that employer was "required to pay" under the order. It would require an extremely strained reading of the statute to allow one employer to pay all benefits due, enter or not enter into an agreement for settlement as the case may be, and only then bring in a former or subsequent employer in an effort to obtain contribution. Note also that an action against a party must be commenced within three years from the date of the last benefit payment under the order.

Quoting Employers Mutual Casualty Companies v. Van Wynqarden & Abrahamson. File Nos.1059572, 1059573, 1059574, 1011165 (App. June 30, 1998).

Pursuant to the aforementioned analysis, for over 20 years, the Commission

has consistently held that a failure to seek an order under Iowa Code § 85.21

prior to an evidentiary hearing is a bar to retroactive reimbursement. See

Arreola v. Bodeans Baking Group Holding. File Nos. 5040956, 5040974

(App. Feb. 16, 2018); see also Dakota Truck Underwriters v. Continental

Western Ins.. File Nos. 5028722, 5028738 (App. Sept. 28, 2011); Hysell v.

Golden Age Care Ctr.. File Nos. 1075022, 1042236, 987874 (App. Oct. 19,

1999); Cambridge Integrated v. Farewav Stores. Inc.. File No. 1292163 (Arb. Dec. 21, 2001); Virginia Surety Co.. Inc. v. Kiowa Corp.. File No. 1195075 (Arb. April 22, 1999). "[I]nterpretation by an agency charged with implementation of statute, particularly over a long period of time and without legislative intervention, is evidence of compatibility of the agency's interpretation with the legislative intent." Churchill Truck Lines, Inc. v. Transportation Reg. Bd. of Iowa Dept. of Transp., 274 N.W.2d 295, 298 (Iowa 1979); see also State v. Stand. Oil Co. of Indiana, 271 N.W. 185, 188 (Iowa 1937) ("great weight should be given to the construction placed upon statutes by those charged with their administration has been frequently announced by this court, and the long-settled practice or custom adopted by the executive department will not be disturbed if the statute is ambiguous and reasonably susceptible to the construction adopted by the executive department.")

# II. THE COURT OF APPEALS DID NOT MIS-APPLY AGENCY LAW

As articulated by the Iowa Workers' Compensation Commission over 20 years ago, the ordinary and common meaning of Iowa Code § 85.21 illustrates it is "intended to be prospective in nature." *Employers Mutual Casualty Companies v. Van Wynqarden & Abrahamson.* File Nos.1059572, 1059573, 1059574, 1011165 (App. June 30, 1998). Subsequent to the *Van Wyngarden* analysis quoted above, the Commissioner concluded:

Where a petitioner for reimbursement has sought an order pursuant to Iowa Code section 85.21 prior to the evidentiary hearing, reimbursement may include payments made both before and after the order was issued. But where no order under 85.21 issues before the evidentiary hearing in a case, reimbursement will not be ordered.

Id.

Read in the proper context, the "evidentiary hearing" referenced in the aforementioned conclusion clearly refers to the hearing between the employer/carrier and claimant at issue, not an 85.21 hearing between insurance carriers as American Home Assurance suggests. The alternative conclusion is nonsensical and inconsistent with the reasoning for the agency's conclusion.<sup>1</sup>

#### CONCLUSION

In compliance with over 20 years of Iowa Workers' Compensation Commission precedent, the Iowa Court of Appeals correctly found that Iowa Code § 85.21 does not permit American Home Assurance to retroactively seek reimbursement subsequent to the evidentiary hearing. The Court of Appeals decision reversing the District Court's ruling is consistent with the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Indeed, in its appeal order, the District Court acknowledged the fact that its ruling was "contrary" to Commission precedent. (District Court Order; app.140).

plain language of the statute and the applicable precedent. No issue of unsettled substantive or changing law or issue of broad public importance is presented by the Application for Further Review. Therefore, the Application should be denied.